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CHARLES TONY PICCUTA (AZ SBN: 028444) 

PICCUTA LAW GROUP, LLP  

8700 E. Pinnacle Peak Road, #205 

Scottsdale, Arizona 85255 

Telephone: (855) 742-2882 

Facsimile: (831) 920-3112 

charles@piccutalaw.com 

 

Attorney for Plaintiff 

Derrick Hathaway 

 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF ARIZONA 

PHOENIX DIVISION 

 

DERRICK HATHAWAY, 

 

               Plaintiffs,  

 

v. 

 

JOSHUA FISTER, DOMINIC LOPEZ, 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA and DOES 

1-5,   

 

                Defendants.  

 

 

 

______________________________________

  

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

 

 

Case No.:  2:17-CV-03048 SPL-  

 

FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT for:  

 

1) Excessive Force in Violation of the 

Fourth Amendment Under Bivens;  

2) Violation of the Federal Tort Claims Act 

28 USC § 1346(b)  (for Battery, Assault, 

Negligence and Negligent and Intentional 

Infliction of Emotional Distress) 

 

JURY TRIAL REQUESTED ON BIVENS 

CLAIM 

  COMES NOW the Plaintiff, by and through his undersigned counsel, and complains and 

alleges as follows:  

INTRODUCTION 

 This action arises from the use of excessive force by federal police officers employed by 

the United States Department of Veteran Affairs. On September 9, 2015, Plaintiff, who is a 

Marine veteran, went to the Veteran Medical Center at 650 E. Indian School Road in Phoenix, 

Arizona for post-traumatic stress disorder medication. While there, he was taken into police 

custody and arrested. Plaintiff was then handcuffed with his hands behind his back and escorted 

by multiple officers to a holding cell in the station.  
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After the door to the holding cell was opened, two officers, Defendants, Joshua Fister and 

Dominic Lopez, took a hold of Plaintiff’s upper body from behind and ran him head and face 

first into the back of the holding cell. After forcefully pressing him against the back wall, the two 

officers then slammed him to the hard floor of the holding cell which aggression and force. As a 

result, Plaintiff sustained an approximate 2 inch gash/laceration to his forehead resulting in 

permanent scarring. Plaintiff also sustained a complete left ACL tear and multiple tears of his 

meniscus requiring a complete ACL reconstruction surgery. 

 After Plaintiff was on the floor with his head gushing with blood, two other officers 

joined in. One of the officers involved choked Plaintiff by placing his hands around his throat 

until he could no longer breathe. Plaintiff was then “hog-tied” and left on the floor until medical 

attention could be rendered.  

 At no time, during the events described above or after, did Plaintiff resist any officer, 

strike any officer, threaten any officer or take any other action that could be construed as 

aggressive or non-compliant. The actions of the officers were unprovoked, unreasonable, 

unnecessary, uncalled for and malicious. The officers used excessive force on Plaintiff while he 

was in custody and while his arms were handcuffed behind his back. At the time of the attack, at 

least five officers were present, no crime was being committed and Plaintiff was not a flight risk. 

Plaintiff is suing the officers who used excessive force against him in their individual 

capacities. Plaintiff is suing the officers for violating his constitutional right to be free from 

excessive force under the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution. Plaintiff is 

bringing this action pursuant to Bivens v. Six Unknown Agents of Fed. Bureau of Narcotics, 403 

U.S. 388; 91 S. Ct. 1999 (1971) to redress the violations perpetrated by the officers while acting 

under the color of law.  

/// 

/// 
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

1. This court has jurisdiction over this action and the claim contained herein 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1343, because Plaintiff’s claim arises under the U.S. 

Constitution and the Fourth Amendment thereto and as authorized by Bivens v. Six Unknown 

Agents of Fed. Bureau of Narcotics, 403 U.S. 388; 91 S. Ct. 1999 (1971). This court futher has 

jurisdiction over the Federal Tort Claims Act claim pursuant to 28 USC § 1346(b)(1).  

2. The acts and omissions giving rise to Plaintiff’s claim occurred within the 

geographic boundaries of the County of Maricopa. Therefore, the appropriate venue for this 

action is in the United States District Court for the District of Arizona, Phoenix Division 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b)(2) and 1391(e)(1)(A)&(B).   

JURY DEMAND 

3. Plaintiff demands a trial by jury in this action as to the Bivens claim.  

IDENTIFICATION OF PARTIES  

4. Plaintiff, Derrick Hathaway (hereinafter “Plaintiff” or “Mr. Hathaway”), is a 

Caucasian adult and natural person who is a Marine veteran having served on multiple tours in 

Kosovo over the course of five years.  At all times relevant hereto Mr. Hathaway resided in 

Maricopa County, Arizona.   

5. At all times relevant hereto, Defendant, Joshua Fister (hereinafter “Fister”), was 

employed as a police officer by the United States Department of Veteran Affairs (“V.A.”). Upon 

information and belief, during all relevant times hereto he resided in Maricopa County, Arizona.  

6. At all times relevant hereto, Defendant Dominic Lopez (hereinafter “Lopez”) was 

employed as a police officer by the United States Department of Veteran Affairs. Upon 

information and belief, during all relevant times hereto he resided in Maricopa County, Arizona.  

/// 

/// 
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7. The true names and capacities of the defendants DOE 1 through 5 are unknown to 

Plaintiff at this time but include the other V.A. police officers who were involved in the violence 

committed on Plaintiff.  Therefore, Plaintiff sues these defendants by such fictitious names.  

Plaintiff is informed and believes that each of the defendants designated as a DOE acted 

wrongfully and is responsible in some fashion for Plaintiff’s injuries as herein alleged. These 

DOE defendants will be later named when their identities and further information is obtained or 

made known to Plaintiff.  

8. At all relevant times hereto, Defendants were working in their capacity as police 

officers for the V.A. at the Veteran Medical Center at 650 E. Indian School Road in Phoenix, 

Arizona. In this capacity they were with full police powers, in full police uniform and within the 

apparent course and scope of their agency and/or employment.  

9. At all relevant times hereto, Defendants were acting under color of law, authority, 

customs and usage of the Constitution and laws of the United States and within the scope of their 

employment with the United States Department of Veteran Affairs   

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

10. On September 9, 2015 at approximately 10:30 AM, Mr. Hathaway went to the 

Veteran Medical Center (“hospital”) at 650 E. Indian School Road for post-traumatic stress 

disorder medication.  

11. After encountering police officers at the hospital, he was arrested, handcuffed 

with his hands behind his back and taken into custody by the police officers.  

12. Mr. Hathaway was then taken by police officers to a secured “station” at the 

hospital that contained a holding cell.  

13. Upon arriving at the holding cell, no less than 5 officers were present or within 

the immediate vicinity.  

/// 
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14. With the door to the holding cell open, officers Fister and Lopez grabbed Mr. 

Hathaway’s shirt from behind, around his shoulder area, with both of their hands on each side. 

Fister and Lopez then ran Mr. Hathaway 8-10 feet from the entry door into the back holding wall 

of the cell. They did this action with great force and purposefully caused Mr. Hathaway’s face, 

head and body to slam into the back wall of the holding cell with their full force behind them and 

with a running start.  

15. Fister and Lopez then held Mr. Hathaway pinned against the back wall of the 

holding cell and instead of releasing their hold and exiting, they purposefully and maliciously 

threw him to the hard ground of the holding cell head and face first again with their full weight 

and force behind them.  

16. Two other officers that were present then joined in and placed their weight on Mr. 

Hathaway by placing their knees or other body parts on Mr. Hathaway’s back and limbs. While 

this was happening one of the officers wrapped his hands around Mr. Hathaway’s neck and 

throat choking him to the point where he was without air and unable to breathe. Upon 

information and belief, the officer that choked Mr. Hathaway was Fister.  

17. The officers then “hog-tied” Mr. Hathaway and left him bleeding and battered 

until medical aid could be rendered.  

18. During the above-described events no less than five officers were present and Mr. 

Hathaway was in police custody with his hands behind his back.   

19. At no time during the above described events did Hathaway resist any officer, 

strike any officer, threaten any officer or take any other action that could be construed as 

aggressive or non-compliant.  

20. The actions of the officers were unprovoked, unreasonable, unnecessary, uncalled 

for and done with the malicious intent to injure and punish Mr. Hathaway.  
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21. At the time of the aforementioned events, Mr. Hathaway was not committing a 

crime, did not pose a threat of safety to any defendants or civilians, was not actively resisting 

arrest and was not a flight risk.  

STATEMENT OF INJURIES AND DAMAGES 

22. As a result of the severe and unnecessary force used by the defendants, Mr. 

Hathaway sustained an approximately 2 inch gash on his forehead resulting in permanent 

scarring and suffered a complete ACL tear of his left knee and multiple meniscus tears requiring 

a complete reconstruction surgery.  Mr. Hathaway has also sustained damages, including, but not 

limited to: pain, discomfort, suffering, disability, disfigurement, loss of normal living, medical 

expenses, emotional distress, anxiety, humiliation and loss of enjoyment of life.  

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

Violation of Fourth Amendment Rights - Excessive Force Under Bivens 

(Against Lopez and Fister) 

 

23. Plaintiff incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 22 above as though fully 

set forth herein.  

24. Pursuant to the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution (and as 

allowed by Bivens), Plaintiff had the right to be free from the unreasonable and excessive use of 

force by the Defendants and any other instrumentalities of federal government.   

25. In doing the above-mentioned acts, Defendants acted under the color of law and 

with the apparent authority of the law to violate Plaintiff’s Fourth Amendment right to be free 

from the unreasonable and excessive use of force against him.  

26. The actions of the defendants were done with malice and with the intent to harm 

and punish Plaintiff.  

27. As a proximate result of the Defendants’ wrongful conduct, Plaintiff suffered 

injuries and damages as set forth above and prayed for below.  

/// 
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SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

Violation of Federal Tort Claims Act 28 U.S.C. 1346(b)(1)(for battery, assault, negligence 

and negligent and intentional infliction of emotional distress) 

(Against all Defendants) 

 

 28. Plaintiff incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 22 above as though fully 

set forth herein. 

 29. On August 31, 2017 and September 7, 2017, Plaintiff gave notice of his complaint 

and claim (on standard Form 95) to the United States Department of Veteran Affairs and Veteran 

Health Administration Pacific-South, Office of Chief Counsel located at 650 E. Indian School 

Road, Bldg. 24, Phoenix, Arizona 85012. The Form 95 was hand delivered, faxed and sent by 

certified mail. A true and correct copy of the Form 95 with attachments is attached hereto as 

EXHIBIT 1.  

 30. Plaintiff received a stamped copy of the Form 95 showing it as received by the 

United States Department of Veteran Affairs and dated September 7, 2017. A true and correct 

copy of the Form 95 stamped as received is attached hereto as EXHIBIT 2.  

 31. In October 2017, Plaintiff received a letter from the United States Department of 

Veteran Affairs, advising that it had received the Form 95 and notice of claim and setting forth 

that the “VA has six months to consider a claim before you have the option to file suit on behalf 

of your client.”  The letter also assigned an adjuster/investigator to the claim and was dated 

October 17, 2017.  

 32. As of May 19, 2018, Plaintiff had not received any further correspondence from 

the United States of America or its Department of Veteran Affairs regarding the claim or 

advising that the claim had been denied. As such, six months has passed since giving notice of 

the claim and delivering the Form 95 and Plaintiff has sufficiently exhausted his administrative 

remedies entitling him to now file a claim pursuant to the Federal Tort Claims Act.  

/// 
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 33. The aforementioned conduct of Fister and Lopez was while they were acting in 

their capacities as police officers for the United States Department of Veteran Affairs and under 

the color of Federal law.  

 34.  In doing the aforementioned acts, Fister and Lopez assaulted Plaintiff in that they 

intended to cause a harmful or offensive contact with Plaintiff and did in fact cause a harmful or 

offensive contact with Plaintiff causing the apprehension of such tortious contact.  

 35. In doing the aforementioned acts, Fister and Lopez battered Plaintiff in that they 

intended to cause a harmful or offensive contact with Plaintiff and did in fact cause a harmful or 

offensive contact.  

 36. In doing the aforementioned acts, Fister and Lopez acted negligently in that they 

owed a duty to Plaintiff to conform to the standard of care of reasonable police officers handling 

a suspect in custody and that they failed to conform to the standard of care breaching that duty 

and causing injury to Plaintiff.  

 37. In doing the aforementioned negligent acts, Fister and Lopez’s conduct created 

and unreasonable risk of bodily harm to Plaintiff and caused Plaintiff emotional distress which 

manifested itself by exacerbating the pre-existing psychological disorders from which Plaintiff 

already suffered.  

 38. In doing the aforementioned acts, Fister and Lopez’s conduct was extreme and 

outrageous and either intentional or reckless. Said conduct further caused Plaintiff severe 

emotional distress and adverse psychological consequences.  

 39. The aforementioned conduct of Lopez and Fister, was unnecessary, not excused 

by any appropriate immunity and not a justified use of force. The aforementioned actions of 

Lopez and Fister, if committed by a private party or non-government actor, would constitute the 

torts of assault, battery, negligence and negligent and intentional infliction of emotional distress 

under Arizona law and give rise to corresponding liability.  
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 40.  As a proximate result of the aforementioned acts of Lopez and Fister, Plaintiff 

suffered injuries and damages as set forth above and prayed for below. 

 41. The United States of America by way of the Department of Veteran Affairs is 

liable for the conduct of Lopez and Fister as asserted under the Federal Tort Claims Act.  

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for relief and demands judgment against Defendants, and 

each of them, jointly and severally, as follows:  

 1. For judgment in favor of Plaintiff and against Defendants;  

 2. For all available general and special damages in the amount of $1,500,000.00 or  

according to proof at trial;  

 3.  For Punitive damages in the amount of $3,000,000.00 or an amount sufficient to 

punish and deter Defendants from similar conduct in the future;  

 3. For all damages allowed by law;  

 4. For interest at the maximum legal rate pursuant to law;  

 5. For Costs and attorney’s fees if allowed by law;  

6.         For any other such relief, whether legal or equitable, that the Court deems just and 

appropriate. 

Dated: July 5, 2018     PICCUTA LAW GROUP, LLP 

 

       /s/            C.T. Piccuta  

       Charles Tony Piccuta 

       Attorneys for Plaintiff 

       Derrick Hathaway   
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

I hereby certify that on this 5th day of July 2018, I caused the foregoing 

document to be electronically transmitted to the Clerk’s Office using the CM/ECF 

System for filing and transmittal of a Notice of Electronic Filing to the following 

CM/ECF registrants: 

 

Honorable 

United States District Court 

401 West Washington 

Phoenix, Arizona 85003 

 

Elizabeth K. Sichi 

Assistant U.S. Attorney 

Two Renaissance Square 

40 N. Central Avenue, Suite 1800 

Phoenix, Arizona 85004 

Email: Elizabeth.sichi@usdoj.gov 

 

      

        

      __/s/ Michael P. Vazquez_______________ 

       Michael P. Vazquez  
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